RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

11-20-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

CASE NO. 2014AP2119-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KIM M. LERDAHL,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE IN EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE PAUL J. LENZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

Meri C. Larson Assistant District Attorney Eau Claire County Courthouse 721 Oxford Avenue Eau Claire, WI 54703 State Bar No. 1006680

(715) 839-4828

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DID OFFICER ROTH HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION OR PROBABLE CAUSE TO JUSTIFY A TRAFFIC STOP OF THE VEHICLE DRIVEN BY KIM LERDAHL?

THE COURT DECIDED: No

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument should not be necessary for the prosecution of this appeal. It is expected that the parties' legal briefs will fully present and address the issue presented for appeal. Additionally, the court's decision need not be published since it is anticipated that it will be controlled by existing case law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 21, 2014, a hearing was held on the defendant's Motion to Suppress Fruits of an Illegal Arrest/Stop (11) which was filed on March 12, 2014 (5). At that hearing, Lerdahl's attorney indicated that she was only challenging the basis for the traffic stop (11:15). Officer Amber Roth testified that while working as an Eau Claire Police Officer on October 10, 2013, she was sitting in her squad car at Birch Street and Starr Avenue observing traffic at approximately 2:00 a.m. (11:8-9). She watched a vehicle pass in front of her location with all three occupants turning and staring at her as the vehicle went by (11:9). Officer Roth thought this was suspicious behavior (11:21-22) so she pulled out onto Birch Street and traveled behind the vehicle, at which point she saw all three occupants turn around and look at her again before the vehicle turned into the Gordy's parking lot on Birch Street (11:9). Before the vehicle pulled into the parking lot, Officer Roth also observed what she believed to be a non-functioning high-mount brake lamp on the pickup truck (11:10). Officer Roth activated her emergency lights as soon as the truck began turning right into the Gordy's parking lot (11:10). The squad video was played for the court (11:10). Officer Roth identified the driver of the truck as Kim Lerdahl (11:12). Vehicle registration records showed that Lerdahl was driving a 1992 Chevrolet K1500 pickup truck (11:13). What appeared to Officer Roth to be a non-functioning high-mount stop lamp was actually a cargo lamp which is not activated by the application of brakes (11:2425). Chevrolet K1500 pickup trucks were not factory equipped with high-mount stop lamps until model year 1994 (11:28).

The court found that Officer Roth's mistake in thinking that the 1992 Chevrolet K1500 pickup truck driven by Kim Lerdahl was equipped with a non-functioning high-mount stop lamp was not reasonable (11:28) and granted the defendant's motion to suppress (11:29) and (12).

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT OFFICER ROTH DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION OR PROBABLE CAUSE FOR THE TRAFFIC STOP OF THE VEHICLE DRIVEN BY KIM LERDAHL AND GRANTED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE.

Standard of Review

When reviewing a motion to suppress, the appellate court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. <u>State v. Fields</u>, 239 Wis.2d 38, 619 N.W.2d 279 (Ct. App. 2000). The application of constitutional standards to the facts is a question of law which is decided without deference to the trial court. <u>State v. Rutzinski</u>, 2001 WI 22, ¶12, 241 Wis.2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. The court reviews *de novo* whether the facts lead to reasonable suspicion. <u>State v. Young</u>, 2006 WI 98, ¶17, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W. 2d 729. Similarly, the court examines the totality of the circumstances to determine whether probable cause exists. <u>State v. Lange</u>, 2009 WI 49, ¶20, 317 Wis.2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551.

Applicable Law

In order for an officer to lawfully conduct an investigative stop, she must have a reasonable suspicion that the driver of a motor vehicle has committed an offense. <u>Rutzinski</u> at ¶14. "The question of what constitutes reasonableness is a common sense test. State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83, 454 N.W. 2d 763, 766 (1990). What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience? Id. at 83-84, 454 N.W. 2d 766. This common sense approach strikes a balance between individual privacy and the societal interest in allowing the police a reasonable scope of action in discharging their responsibility." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W. 2d 681, 684, (1996). "The law of investigative stops allows police officers to stop a person when they have less than probable cause. Moreover, police officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d at 84, 454 N.W. 2d at 766." Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 59, 556 N.W. 2d at 685. Reasonable suspicion depends on whether an officer's suspicion is supported by "specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts" indicating the individual committed or is committing an offense. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 56, 556 N.W. 2d at 684. "In determining whether there is probable cause, the court applies an objective standard, considering the information available to the officer and the officer's training and experience." State v. Lange, 2009 WI 49, ¶20, 317 Wis.2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551.

When an officer relates the facts to a specific offense, it must indeed be an offense; a lawful stop cannot be predicated upon a mistake of law. State v. Longcore, 226 Wis.2d 1, 594 N.W. 2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999). However, courts will decline to exclude evidence when the officer's factual mistake is reasonable and made in good faith. United States v. Cashman, 216 F.3d 582, 587 (7th Cir. 2000) (where the officer reasonably believed a crack in the windshield was long enough to violate the statute, but it was not in fact, the officer had probable cause to stop for the traffic violation). Subsequent to *Longcore*, Wisconsin courts have upheld stops where an officer's belief regarding the facts was reasonable and there was no mistake of law. See State v. Reierson, 334 Wis. 2d 146, 2011 WL1587124 (Ct. App. 2011) (cited for its persuasive value, where officer misreads Reierson's license plate number). See also County of Sheboygan v. Bubolz, 334 Wis. 2d 147, 2011 WL 1271944 (Ct. App. 2011) (cited for its persuasive value, where the officer mistakenly believed a construction traffic sign was official).

Discussion

The evidence presented at the motion hearing revealed that what appeared to Officer Roth to be a non-functioning high-mount stop lamp was actually a cargo lamp intended to illuminate the box of the truck, a light which would not illuminate automatically with the application of brakes, but upon the turn of a switch. Because of the appearance and location of this lamp, Officer Roth

mistook it for a high-mount stop lamp that was not working at the time brakes were applied by the driver of the vehicle.

Because this was a mistake of fact rather than a mistake of law, suppression of the evidence based on the traffic stop would be inappropriate. Officer Roth's belief that the lamp was a non-functioning high-mount stop lamp was reasonable, although mistaken. This would compare favorably to the situation in which an officer conducts a traffic stop of a vehicle after seeing that the vehicle is registered to a person whose operating privileges are revoked, and then finds after the stop that the person driving the vehicle is not the registered owner. The traffic stop was reasonable, even though the officer turned out to be wrong as to the identity of the driver. <u>See State v. Williams</u>, 2002 WI App 306, 258 Wis. 2d 395, 655 N.W.2d 462.

In addition, Officer Roth observed all three occupants of the pickup truck turn and stare at her as the vehicle passed by her location, and turn around and look at her again before turning into the Gordy's parking lot, which raised her suspicion that the occupants were deliberately trying to avoid her (11:9-10, 21-22). These facts combined with the time of day being 2:00 a.m. (11:9) would lead a reasonable officer to believe a violation of law had occurred or was occurring. This was not addressed by the court in its ruling.

The court concluded that Officer Roth's mistake about the factory installed equipment on the pickup truck would only be reasonable if she had training in

identifying the difference between a 1992 and a 1994 model of the Chevrolet 1500 pickup truck. The court's conclusion would require that Officer Roth know the pickup truck to be a 1994 model instead of a 1992 model. That conclusion eliminates the possibility of a reasonable mistake.

CONCLUSION

In this case, Officer Roth had both reasonable suspicion and probable cause for the traffic stop of the vehicle driven by Kim Lerdahl. For all the reasons cited, the court's Order Granting Suppression of Evidence should be reversed.