## **RECEIVED**

12-19-2014

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT 3

Case No. 2014AP002119-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

KIM M. LERDAHL,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from a Pretrial Order Granting a Motion to Suppress Evidence, Entered in the Circuit Court for Eau Claire County, the Honorable Paul J. Lenz Presiding

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

WILLIAM E. SCHMAAL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017331 Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1773 schmaalw@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the circuit court erred in granting Lerdahl's pretrial motion to suppress evidence derived from a warrantless motor vehicle stop, ruling that the officer did not have a sufficient factual basis to believe that any violation of law was being committed?

*Trial court answered*: Judge Lenz concluded, in relevant part, that "[w]hen the only reason for stopping a vehicle is the lack of a high mounted tail lamp [sic], the police officer needs to have a reasonable belief that such vehicle came equipped with that, so if that's the reason, you need, then, something that wasn't established here, which is some sort of training in the identification of the age of the vehicles." (appellant's App. 30-31;11:28-29).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Respondent Kim M. Lerdahl ("Lerdahl") does not request oral argument because this brief fully presents and develops the dispositive issue on appeal and the applicable legal authorities. Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.22(2)(b).

Publication of the Court of Appeals' opinion is not warranted because the issue presented involves no more than the application of well-settled principles of law to the evidentiary record, and no reasons appear for questioning the controlling precedents. Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.23(1)(b)1., 3.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced on November 6, 2013, with the filing of a two-count criminal complaint (as to Lerdahl) which alleged that she had operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated, and with a prohibited alcohol concentration, as a fourth offense in the City of Eau Claire. (1; docket entries). The complaint alleged that a police officer obtained various items of incriminatory evidence against Lerdahl pursuant to the initial vehicle stop. (id.).

Lerdahl filed a pretrial motion to suppress evidence derived from a warrantless stop of her vehicle. (5). The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on the motion (9:Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7; 11), and the court ultimately granted relief in a written order. (appellant's App. 2; 12).

The state's notice of appeal (13) is taken from the order granting the suppression of evidence (12), pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(d)2.

### **SUMMARY OF THE FACTS**

On October 10, 2013, at approximately 2:00 a.m., City of Eau Claire police officer Amber Roth was stopped in her patrol car at the intersection of Birch Street and Starr Avenue when another motor vehicle passed her position in a perpendicular direction. (appellant's App. 11; 11:9). Officer Roth testified that the other vehicle caught her attention because all three of its occupants initially "turned and stared at" her, after which they turned and looked at her again when she began to follow their vehicle. (id.).

Officer Roth also noticed an object on the rear of the other vehicle which she believed to be a non-functioning, center high-mounted brake light<sup>1</sup> because it was located in the same place that she had seen center high-mounted brake lights on other pick-up trucks in the past. (appellant's App. 12; 11:12). The patrol car's video camera recorded the events after Officer Roth began to follow the truck. (appellant's App.. 11-12; 11:9-10).

On direct-examination by the prosecutor, Officer Roth testified that the truck "immediately" pulled into the parking lot at Gordy's supermarket "as soon as [the truck's occupants] noticed" that she was following it. (appellant's App. 11, 20; 11:9, 18). Under cross-examination by defense counsel, however, Officer Roth conceded that she had followed the truck for "some distance" through several intersections before it turned into the parking lot. (appellant's App. 20-22; 11:18-20). The video recording, itself, reveals that Officer Roth followed the pick-up truck for a period of approximately thirty seconds before the truck's turn signal was activated. (9:Exhibit 1: time 02:00:53-02:01:22). No suspicious circumstances appear in the video recording, or were observed by Officer Roth (appellant's App. 22; 11:20), during that time span.

According to a popular, syndicated newspaper column which addresses readers' questions about motor vehicles, a center highmounted stop lamp is known by the acronym "CHMSL," which is pronounced "chim-zel." Car Talk: What's a CHMSL and How Do We Fix It? (http://www.cartalk.com/blogs/tom-ray/today-whats-chmsl-and-how-do-we-fix-it), September 4, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The patrol car video contains running time stamps which are described as "media current time," commencing at time 02:00:52. Lerdahl's citations to these time stamps represent undersigned counsel's best approximations between the activities depicted in the video and the time stamps.

Officer Roth testified that she activated the emergency lights on her patrol car "right as the truck was turning right into the Gordy's parking lot." (appellant's App. 12; 11:10). The video recording, itself, shows that reflections of the patrol car's emergency lights became visible approximately one second after the truck's turn signal was activated. (9:Exhibit 1: time 02:01:22-23).

Officer Roth made contact with the truck's driver in the parking lot and identified her as Lerdahl. (appellant's App. 14; 11:12). The video recording depicts lighted commercial signage in the area indicating that Gordy's supermarket was open for business at that time, as well as numerous other parked vehicles in the parking lot. (9:Exhibit 1: time 02:01:34-42).

A vehicle registration check on Lerdahl's truck disclosed that it was a 1992 model Chevrolet (appellant's App. 15; 9:Exhibit 2; 11:13), although Officer Roth couldn't remember whether she had had that information before she stopped the vehicle. (appellant's App. 15; 11:13). At that time, Officer Roth didn't know whether similar 1992 model Chevy trucks were equipped with a "factory installed" center high-mounted stop lamp. (appellant's App. 15-16; 11:13-14). Officer Roth admitted that the color of the ostensible, center high-mounted stop lamp was "whitish," rather than the red color that is ordinarily seen on brake lights. (appellant's App. 18-19; 11:16-17).

Subsequent investigation by Lerdahl's attorney revealed that the whitish object was actually a "cargo lamp," which may be used to illuminate the interior of the truck bed after dark. (appellant's App. 25-28; 11:23-26).

Such other facts as may be relevant to this appeal will be set forth, and cited to the record, in the Argument below.

### **ARGUMENT**

The Trial Court Did Not Err in Granting Lerdahl's Pretrial Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from a Warrantless Motor Vehicle Stop Because the Officer Did Not Have a Sufficient Factual Basis to Believe that Any Violation of Law Was Being Committed in Her Presence.

A. The relevant statutes and administrative rule, the applicable general principles of law and the standard of appellate review.

Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01, 347.14 and 349.02,<sup>3</sup> provide, in relevant part, as follows:

**340.01 Words and phrases defined.** In s. 23.33 and chs. 340 to 349 and 351, the following words and phrases have the designated meanings unless a different meaning is expressly provided or the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

\* \* \*

**(63)** "Stop lamp" means a device giving a steady warning light to the rear of the vehicle to indicate the intention of the operator of the vehicle to diminish speed or stop.

\* \* \*

**347.14 Stop lamps. (1)** No person shall operate a motor vehicle, . . . upon a highway unless such motor vehicle. . . is equipped with at least one stop lamp mounted on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All statutory references are made to the 2011-12 edition unless indicated otherwise.

rear and meeting the specifications set forth in this section. \* \* \* No vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture and sale with 2 stop lamps shall be operated upon a highway unless both such lamps are in good working order.

(2) A stop lamp shall be so constructed as to be actuated upon application of the service or foot brake. . .and shall emit a red or amber light. . . .

**349.02** Police and traffic officers to enforce law. (1) It is the duty of the police, sheriff's and traffic departments of every unit of government and each authorized department of the state to enforce chs. 346 to 348 and 350. \* \* \*

- (2) (a) Notwithstanding sub. (1), a police officer, sheriff, deputy sheriff, traffic officer or motor vehicle inspector may not stop or inspect a vehicle solely to determine compliance with a statute or ordinance specified under par. (b) unless the police officer, sheriff, deputy sheriff, traffic officer or motor vehicle inspector has reasonable cause to believe that a violation of a statute or ordinance specified under par. (b) has been committed. \* \* \*
- (b) The statutes and ordinances covered under par. (a) are all of the following:

\* \* \*

3. Chapters 341 to 346.

\* \* \*

The Wisconsin legislature has also authorized the Department of Transportation to adopt relevant administrative rules. Wis. Stat. §§ 85.01(1); 85.16(1).

Wisconsin Administrative Code Trans § 305.15 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Trans 305.15 Stop lamps. (1) Every automobile originally manufactured commencing with the 1950 models, every light truck or motor home originally manufactured commencing with the 1955 models, . . ., shall be equipped with at least 2 stop lamps. All other motor vehicles shall be equipped with at least one stop lamp.

(2) The stop lamps of every vehicle shall be maintained in proper working condition and in conformity with this section and s. 347.14, Stats.

\* \* \*

(5) (a) The high-mounted stop lamp of every motor vehicle originally manufactured with a high-mounted stop lamp shall be maintained in proper working condition and may not be covered or obscured by any object or material. \* \* \*

\* \* \*

The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, ¶ 19, 355 Wis. 2d 668, 678, 850 N.W.2d 66. Traffic stops are considered seizures and thus must be reasonable to pass constitutional muster. *Id*. If the seizure is unreasonable and therefore unconstitutional, then evidence obtained as a result is generally inadmissible. *Id*., at 679. The burden is on the State to prove that a stop meets the constitutional reasonableness requirement. *Id*., at 679. In general, a traffic stop can be based on probable cause or reasonable suspicion. *Id*., at 679.

When a motor vehicle stop is founded upon the officer's observation of an ostensible violation being committed in his or her presence, rather than a suspicion which warrants further investigation, then the applicable standard is probable cause. *State v. Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 8-9, 593 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd* 233 Wis. 2d 278, 607 N.W.2d 620. See also Wis. Stat. § 349.02(2)(a), and *City of Milwaukee v. Nelson*, 149 Wis. 2d 434, 455, 439 N.W.2d 562 (1989)("A 'reasonable grounds' for arrest has been equated to mean 'probable cause.'").

exists Probable cause where the facts and circumstances within the officer's knowledge are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has been or is being committed. E.g., Brinegar v. *United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 175-76 (1949). Because many situations which confront officers in the course of executing their duties are more or less ambiguous, room must be allowed for some mistakes on their part. *Id.*, at 176. But the mistakes must be those of reasonable persons, acting on facts leading sensibly to their conclusions of probability. *Id.*, at 176. Probable cause my not be based on speculation arising from the absence of factual information. State v. Haugen, 52 Wis. 2d 791, 795, 191 N.W.2d 12 (1971).

On appeal, the question whether there was probable cause to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact. **State v. Brown**, 2014 WI 69, ¶ 17, 355 Wis. 2d 668, 677, 850 N.W.2d 66. The reviewing court will sustain the circuit court's findings of fact unless they were clearly erroneous, but the court will independently assess the application of those facts to the constitutional principles. **Id**. The circuit court's decision whether to draw a permissive inference, or not to draw an inference, is a finding of fact which is binding

on the appellate court. *State v. Friday*, 147 Wis. 2d 359, 370-71, 434 N.W.2d 85 (1989).

B. The officer's belief that Lerdahl's pick-up truck had a non-functioning, center high-mounted stop lamp was not a reasonable mistake of fact.

The essence of the state's argument is that Officer Roth made a reasonable mistake of fact in presuming that the object on the upper rear of Lerdahl's pick-up truck was a non-functioning, center high-mounted stop lamp. (appellant's brief, at 5-7). From this premise, the state concludes that the seizure of Lerdahl's vehicle was lawful. (id.).

Certainly, it is true that the officer's factual belief was erroneous. The undisputed evidence at the motion hearing established that Lerdahl's truck was equipped with a cargo lamp, not a center high-mounted stop lamp. (appellant's App. 25-28; 11:23-26).

However, the circuit court correctly ruled that the officer's erroneous belief was not a reasonable mistake.

First, as Judge Lenz observed, the state presented no testimony that Officer Roth had any general knowledge or information concerning which vehicles are equipped with center high-mounted stop lamps and which vehicles are not so equipped. (appellant's App. 30-31; 11:28-29). Therefore, there is no way to rationally assess the likelihood that Lerdahl's specific truck had a center high-mounted stop lamp, apart from speculation.

Second, the officer admitted that the cargo lamp on Lerdahl's truck has a "whitish" colored lens instead of a red lens, as is commonly seen on stop lamps. (appellant's App. 18-19; 11:16-17). Indeed, Wisconsin law requires that stop lamps emit a red or amber light. Wis. Stat. § 347.14(2). Although the circuit court did not rely on this particular evidentiary fact for its ruling, that ruling may nevertheless be sustained on appeal on an alternative ground. *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124-25, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985).

Consequently, the state failed to carry its burden of proof that the officer's action was founded on a reasonable mistake of fact.

C. The officer did not have a sufficient factual basis to believe that any violation of law was being committed, in any event.

Moreover, even if Officer Roth's erroneous assumption about a center high-mounted stop lamp on Lerdahl's truck had been reasonable, she still did not have lawful grounds to stop the vehicle. This is so for essentially the same reason, namely that the officer claimed no information or knowledge concerning the likelihood that Lerdahl's truck had been "originally manufactured" with a center high-mounted stop lamp, as Wisconsin Administrative Code Trans § 305.15(5)(a) requires.

By statute, the United States Congress has authorized the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") to adopt relevant administrative rules for vehicle safety. 49 U.S.C. § 3011(a).

In 49 C.F.R. § 571.108, entitled "Standard 108; Lamps, reflective devices, and associated equipment," at S5.1.1.27(a), the NHTSA adopted a rule that "each passenger car manufactured on or after September 1, 1985, and each multipurpose passenger vehicle, truck, and bus, . . .,

manufactured on or after September 1, 1993, shall be equipped with a high-mounted stop lamp...."

It follows that a traffic officer must possess some knowledge about either the age of a pick-up truck, or other original-equipment vehicle information, in order to rationally assess whether it is in violation of Wisconsin Administrative Code Trans § 305.15(5)(a).

Here, Officer Roth testified that a vehicle registration check showed that Lerdahl's truck was a 1992 Chevrolet model, although the officer could not recall if she had had that information before she stopped it. (appellant's App. 15; 11:13). However, Officer Roth gave no testimony about the apparent age of Lerdahl's truck or other manufacturer's information to suggest that it had likely been originally-equipped with a center high-mounted stop lamp.

Accordingly, this case is controlled by the court of decision appeals' previous in State Conaway, v. 2010 WI App 7, 323 Wis. 2d 250, 779 N.W.2d 182. There, a warrantless vehicle stop had been founded on a police officer's belief that the rear window tinting of a car failed to satisfy an administrative rule that at least 35% of the light must pass through unless the window tint is original Wisconsin Administrative equipment, Code Trans § 305.32(5)(b). *Id.*, ¶¶ 1-3 at 252-53. The court concluded that the stop had been unlawful because the officer did not testify that he had any training or experience which made him capable of judging the technical standard of fact set forth in the administrative rule. *Id.*, ¶¶ 9-14 at 255-57.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lerdahl acknowledges that the court of appeals' decision in *State v. Conaway* treated the applicable legal standard as one of reasonable suspicion, rather than probable cause. However, the parties had argued the case solely under that rubric, without addressing

Finally, the fact that the occupants of Lerdahl's truck had initially taken notice of Officer Roth's presence in a patrol car adds nothing to the legal analysis.

In the absence of unprovoked flight, a citizen's mere cognizance that a police officer is present does not even raise a reasonable suspicion for investigation, much less probable cause. Compare *State v. Williamson*, 109 Wis. 2d 83, 93-94, 325 N.W.2d 360 (Ct. App. 1982), with *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124-25 (2000).

Wis. Stat. § 349.02(2)(a) or *State v. Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 8-9, 593 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd* 233 Wis. 2d 278, 607 N.W.2d 620. Therefore, *State v. Conaway* is not controlling on the issue. E.g., *State v. Goetz*, 2001 WI App 294, ¶ 18, 249 Wis. 2d 380, 387, 638 N.W.2d 386 (the court of appeals does not develop or decide arguments that are not raised by the parties).

### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Lerdahl respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to enter an order affirming the circuit court's order granting the suppression of evidence, and remanding to the circuit court for further proceedings.